Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-12-2017

In Re SRBA Case No. 39576 Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44635

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises from consolidated subcases in the Snake River Basin Adjudication ("SRBA") on the United States' supplemental claims for storage water rights in Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs in Water District 65. The United States' supplemental claims do not assert rights to store water for beneficial use in amounts greater than amounts already decreed for the reservoirs. Rather, the United States filed the supplemental claims solely to protect historic reservoir operations, which were called into question by water-rights accounting rules adopted by the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("IDWR") after the United States' reservoir rights were decreed. The Black Canyon Irrigation District ("Black Canyon") holds beneficial interests in the stored water. Black Canyon intervened in the subcases to argue that the United States' supplemental claims are unnecessary because IDWR's accounting rules are in error.

Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs are on-stream reservoirs created by dams that capture all stream flows, subject to controlled releases by the Bureau of Reclamation ("Reclamation"). Reclamation sought and obtained permits and licenses from the State of Idaho to store waters for irrigation and power-supply purposes, in amounts essentially up to reservoir capacity. In most years, however, the annual runoff in the relevant stream basins exceeds reservoir capacity. To manage flood risks, Reclamation operates the reservoirs under a policy to capture peak stream flows. Specifically, as winter snows accumulate and provide a measure of available spring flows, Reclamation passes through or releases water that otherwise could be used for irrigation, to leave sufficient reservoir space available to capture predicted runoff during late winter and

spring when flooding is most likely. This allows Reclamation to store water for irrigation and other beneficial use in a manner that also provides flood protection to downstream communities.

In 1993, IDWR developed, for the first time, computerized procedures for administering water rights in Basin 65. Like similar procedures developed for other sub-basins, IDWR's procedures for Basin 65 include accounting rules for on-stream reservoirs that treat all incoming flows as diversions toward decreed storage amounts and deem a reservoir storage right satisfied "on paper" as soon as accumulated flows available in priority reach the decreed storage amount, whether or not those waters are physically stored. Under the IDWR procedures, waters that Reclamation diverts and stores after the date of "paper" fill are not considered stored under the reservoir storage right, but instead are deemed available for use and appropriation by others, threatening federal storage rights.

The United States, Black Canyon, and others sought to protect reservoir storage rights -and particularly the right to store waters in priority after flood-control releases – in an SRBA
basin-wide proceeding designated "Basin Wide Issue 17." On appeal, this Court held that IDWR
has authority to determine, in the first instance, when reservoir storage rights are satisfied. *See In re SRBA*, 157 Idaho 385, 394, 336 P.3d 792, 801 (2014). In October 2015, in an order
addressing federal reservoirs in Basin 63 (and for the first time in any formal order), IDWR set
out and affirmed its accounting rules for on-stream reservoirs. *See Final Order In the Matter of Accounting for Distribution of Water to the Federal On-Stream Reservoirs in Water District* 63
(Oct. 15, 2015) ("*Basin 63 Accounting Order*") (U.S. Add. 3). That order was challenged in
district court, and is now separately on appeal to this Court. *See* pp. 9, 21-22, *infra*.

In the meantime, recognizing that the opportunity for filing claims in the SRBA would soon pass, the United States filed conditional supplemental claims for its reservoirs in Basins 01, 37, 63, and 65. The United States asserted that – if IDWR's accounting rules for on-stream reservoirs are upheld – the United States nonetheless possesses rights to store and use waters after flood-control releases based on the United States' historic beneficial use of such waters. The supplemental claims assert the same storage amounts and beneficial uses stated in the United States' decreed reservoir rights, but assert greater diversion rights, reflecting the amounts of water that Reclamation historically let pass or initially impounded and then released, in large flood-control years, before physically filling the reservoirs for beneficial use.

In a certified final decision on October 11, 2016, the district court disallowed the United States' Basin 65 supplemental claims on grounds of res judicata. The district court reasoned that the United States' rights in Basin 65 had been fully and finally adjudicated in a 1986 Partial Decree in the Payette Adjudication (an adjudication later consolidated with the SRBA proceedings). For the reasons explained herein, this ruling is in error. The United States' Basin 65 supplemental claims could not have been brought in the Payette Adjudication, because they are based on IDWR accounting rules that were developed after the 1986 Partial Decree and that reinterpret the nature of on-stream reservoir rights. The district court should have treated the United States' Basin 65 claims in the same manner as the United States' Basin 63 claims, which remain pending. Alternatively, if this Court invalidates IDWR's accounting rules for on-stream reservoirs and holds that flood-control releases do not count against the already-decreed federal storage rights, all of the pending supplemental claims would be moot.

B. Course of Proceedings

1. SRBA Decreed Claims

The State of Idaho initiated the SRBA in 1987 to determine all rights to water within the Snake River Basin. See In re the Snake River Basin Water Sys., 115 Idaho 1, 2-5, 764 P.2d 78, 79-82 (1988) (history of suit). The United States is a party to the SRBA under the McCarran Amendment, id., which grants Congress's consent to the joinder of the United States in "any suit *** for the adjudication of rights to the use of water of a river system or other source." 43 U.S.C. § 666(a). The United States filed hundreds of notices of claimed water rights, including for multiple on-stream reservoirs that are part of federal reclamation projects. The United States filed claims for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs in July 1989. R. 772-789. In March 2003, following claims examination, see Idaho Code § 42-1411, the district court issued three separate "Order[s] of Partial Decree," see id., § 42-1412(7), declaring the United States' rights in Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs as follows:

Right	Reservoir	Purpose	Period of Use	Quantity
65-2927A	Cascade	Irrigation Storage	01-01 to 12-31	697,500 AFY
		Irrigation from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	697,500 AFY
		Power Storage	01-01 to 12-31	697,500 AFY
		Power from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	697,500 AFY
65-2927B	Cascade	Municipal Storage	01-01 to 12-31	2,500 AFY
		Municipal from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	2,500 AFY
65-9483	Deadwood	Irrigation Storage	01-01 to 12-31	163,000 AFY
		Irrigation from Storage	04-01 to 11-01	163,000 AFY
		Power Storage	01-01 to 12-31	163,000 AFY
		Power from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	163,000 AFY

R. 543-557. The district court issued a "Final Unified Decree" in the SRBA on August 25, 2014, see http://srba.idaho.gov/finaldecree.htm, but expressly retained jurisdiction over specified unresolved claims, including the United States' supplemental claims in this case. R. 61-62.

2. Supplemental Claims

By statute, any SRBA claimant could "amend a notice of claim or file a late notice of claim after the final date for filing notices of claim * * * for good cause shown." Idaho Code § 42-1409A(3). In January 2013, prompted by IDWR's accounting procedures for federal onstream reservoirs, the United States filed supplemental "beneficial use" claims for federal reservoirs in multiple basins, including the following claims for Basin 65. R. 17-35.

Right	Reservoir	Purpose	Period of Use	Quantity
65-23531	Cascade	Irrigation Storage	10-01 to 9-30	1,066,653 AFY
		Irrigation from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	697,500 AFY
		Power Storage	10-01 to 9-30	1,066,653 AFY
		Power from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	697,500 AFY
		Municipal Storage	10-01 to 9-30	1,066,653 AFY
		Municipal from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	2,500 AFY
65-23532	Deadwood	Irrigation Storage	10-01 to 9-30	268,113 AFY
		Irrigation from Storage	04-01 to 11-01	163,000 AFY
		Power Storage	10-01 to 9-30	268,113 AFY
		Power from Storage	01-01 to 12-31	163,000 AFY

R. 824-29. Consistent with IDWR's accounting rules, these claims assume that the amount designated for storage is a *diversion* limit, and that all incoming stream flows, including amounts released for flood-control purposes, count toward the maximum annual storage right. The

United States claimed a 1965 priority date, R. 824, 827, not because Reclamation began flood-control operations in that year (such operations began earlier), but because 1965 was a year with historically high stream flows. By claiming a right to divert up to maximum stream flows based on historical diversions, Reclamation did not claim the right to store and beneficially use all stream flows; rather, Reclamation accepted the view (per IDWR's accounting rules) that all stream flows constitute diversions, and claimed the right, based on historic practice, to store the last flows diverted, for the same beneficial uses stated in its decreed rights. The United States explained that it sought to confirm its rights, based on historic operations, to release waters for flood-control purposes before filling the reservoirs for irrigation storage. R. 18.

At the time the United States filed these claims, the question of reservoir "refill" rights were under review in the proceedings on Basin-Wide Issue 17. *Id.*, R. 22; *see also* pp. 20-21, *infra*. The United States explained that if the district court were to hold in the basin-wide proceedings (contrary to IDWR's accounting rules) that decreed rights for the federal reservoirs already included the right to "refill" after flood-control releases, the United States would "withdraw[]" its supplemental claims as "unnecessary." R. 22, n. 7.

3. Proceedings on Supplemental Claims

The district court (Judge Eric J. Wildman) accepted the United States' supplemental claims for filing, and forwarded them to IDWR for review and recommendation. R. 41; *see also*

¹ The United States' claims are based on streamflow data maintained by Reclamation in its "hydromet" archive. *See generally* http://www.usbr.gov/pn/hydromet/arcread.html.

Idaho Code § 42-1411. IDWR recommended that the Basin 65 supplemental claims be disallowed, because they had not been asserted in a prior adjudication (the Payette River Adjudication) that was ultimately consolidated with the SRBA. R. 44. The United States objected, R. 52-53, and the district court referred the dispute to special master Theodore R. Booth. R. 129. Black Canyon sought and obtained leave to intervene. R. 155-56. In its initial pleading, Black Canyon asserted that the supplemental claims are unnecessary, because the claimed rights are subsumed within the decreed reservoir rights. R. 158-162. The State of Idaho moved for summary judgment on multiple grounds, including claim preclusion.² R. 1572.

4. Special Master's Recommendation

By decision dated November 19, 2015, Special Master Booth recommended granting summary judgment on the grounds of claim preclusion, R. 1984-99, and declined to reach the merits of the State's other arguments. R. 1996-1999. All parties moved to alter or amend the recommendation. *See* R. 2070 (U.S.); R. 2057 (Idaho); R. 2033 (Black Canyon). Suez Water Idaho, Inc., filed a notice of participation in support of the State's motion. R. 2077. Special Master Booth issued a final recommendation on the State's summary judgment motion on April 22, 2016. R. 2206-2221. While finding that "at all times relevant to the filing of claims in the Payette Adjudication, there was no basis upon which" the United States could have filed the "beneficial use water right [now] claim[ed] in subcases 65-23531 and 65-23532," R. 2213-14,

_

² Idaho also argued that the supplemental claims are: (1) improper "collateral attacks" on the 2003 SRBA partial decrees; (2) improper attacks on IDWR's administrative authority; (3) improper attempts to obtain water rights for flood control purposes, and (4) not supported by proof of beneficial use of the alleged "additional storage water claimed." R. 1572.

Special Master Booth reiterated his view that those claims are barred by the language of the 1986 Partial Decree. R. 2214-15. On the other hand, Special Master Booth agreed with Black Canyon that the waters Reclamation "claimed * * * to have * * * appropriated" in 1965, via storage and use of waters after flood control releases, "was not subject to appropriation because it * * * was being stored * * * under the authority of the existing storage rights." R. 2215.

5. Final Order Disallowing Basin 65 Supplemental Claims

All parties in the Basin 65 proceedings filed challenges to different parts of the Special Master's recommendation. The district court resolved the challenges by order dated October 7, 2016. R. 2511-2518. The district court accepted Special Master Booth's recommendation on claim preclusion, holding that the Payette Adjudication barred the Basin 65 supplemental claims. R. 2513-2518; *see also* pp. 22-23, *infra*. But the district court rejected the Special Master's determination that the supplemental claims were already subsumed within the decreed federal storage rights. R. 2518. The district court reasoned that Black Canyon's arguments on the scope of the decreed rights constituted a challenge to IDWR's administrative practices that was beyond the scope of the SRBA. R. 2518-20.

6. Related Proceedings on Basin 63 Supplemental Claims

When it filed its supplemental claims for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs, the United States also filed supplemental claims for federal reservoirs in Basins 01, 37, and 63. R. 17-35. The United States has since settled its Basin 01 and 37 claims, but the Basin 63 claims remain pending. In rulings parallel to the above-described Basin 65 rulings, special Master Booth found the Basin 63 claims to be unnecessary because subsumed within the already decreed storage

rights, R. 2518; and the district court rejected this recommendation on the view that IDWR has exclusive authority to determine, in the first instance, when decreed reservoir rights are satisfied. *See Mem. Decision & Order*, SRBA Subcase 63-33732 at 6-7 (Sept. 1, 2016) (U.S. Add. 1). The district court held that the special master should have "proceeded with the [Basin 63 supplemental] claims based on the accounting methodology in place," or stayed proceedings pending a challenge to the IDWR's accounting procedures under the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act ("Idaho APA"). *Id.* at 9.

On the same date that he issued the above order in the SRBA, Judge Wildman, in his capacity as District Judge for Idaho's Fourth Judicial District, issued a final decision in an Idaho APA action challenging IDWR's *Basin 63 Accounting Order*. *See Mem. Decision & Order*, Case No. CV-WA-2015-21376 (Idaho 4th Dist.) (Sept. 1, 2016) (U.S. Add. 2); *see also Basin 63 Accounting Order* (U.S. Add. 3).³ That decision, which affirmed IDWR's accounting rules in part (pp. 21-22, *infra*), is the subject of multiple appeals now pending in this Court. *See In the Matter of Accounting for Distribution of Water to the Federal On-Stream Reservoirs in Water District 63*, S. Ct. No. 44677 (appeal by Ballentyne Ditch Co. *et al.*), No. 44745 (appeal by Boise Project Board of Control *et al.*), & 44746 (appeal by IDWR).

_

³ For the Court's convenience, the *Basin 63 Accounting Order* (U.S. Add 3), the district court's decision on that order (U.S. Add. 2), and the district court's decision on the United States' Basin 63 supplemental claims (U.S. Add. 1) are provided in a separately-bound addendum to this brief. This Court may take judicial notice of these orders under Idaho R. Evid. 201.

C. Statement of Facts

1. Boise Project

Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs are part of the Boise Project (originally known as the Payette-Boise Project), a federal reclamation project constructed and operated under the Reclamation Act of 1902. R. 1714-1718; *see also Payette-Boise Water Users Ass'n v. Cole*, 263 F. 734, 736-37 (D. Idaho 1919) (describing early Boise Project). Cascade Reservoir is on the North Fork of the Payette River and Deadwood Reservoir is on Deadwood River, a tributary of the Payette River South Fork. R. 1717-1718. The Payette River and its tributaries are in Basin 65. The Boise Project includes three additional storage reservoirs –Arrowrock, Anderson Ranch, and Lucky Peak – on the Boise River system in Basin 63. R. 1716-1717.

Under federal law, the capital and operational costs of federal reclamation projects are allocated to project beneficiaries through contracts that set out repayment obligations and provide contractors with a percentage of reservoir storage space. R. 1719-1723; *see also United States v. Pioneer Irr. Dist.*, 144 Idaho 106, 110, 157 P.3d 600, 604 (2007). Black Canyon is the principal "space holder" in Cascade Reservoir and, under Idaho law, holds a beneficial interest in the federal storage rights. *Id.* at 115, 157 P.3d at 609. To maximize storage capability, Reclamation operates Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs as a unified system, sharing the combined storage space for the purposes of both reservoirs. R. 1727, 1775; *see also* R. 688.

2. State Licenses and Permits

When enacting the Reclamation Act of 1902 and thereby authorizing the Secretary of the Interior to "set forth on a massive program to construct and operate dams, reservoirs, and canals

for the reclamation of the arid lands in 17 Western States," *California v. United States*, 438 U.S. 645, 650 (1978), Congress directed Reclamation to "proceed in conformity" with State laws governing the "appropriation, use, [and] distribution of water." *Id.* at 665 (quoting 43 U.S.C. § 383). Like most western states, Idaho governs water use through rules of prior appropriation. *Joyce Livestock Co. v. United States*, 144 Idaho 1, 5-6, 156 P.3d 502, 506-507 (2007). Under these rules, whoever is first to appropriate and beneficially use unappropriated water acquires a priority right of use over later appropriators. *Id.* In 1903, Idaho adopted a permit-and-license process for water appropriations, *see Fremont-Madison Irr. Dist. & Mitigation Group v. Idaho Ground Water Appropriators*, 129 Idaho 454, 456, 926 P.2d 1301, 1303 (1996), requiring users to obtain a permit from the State Engineer before constructing diversion works. Idaho Rev. Stat. § 3253 (1903). Upon examination of the permitted diversion structures and confirmation of beneficial use, the State Engineer would issue a certificate of water right. *Id.*, §§ 3257-58.

Reclamation applied for a permit for Deadwood Reservoir in 1926, to provide a reliable supply of water to Black Canyon Dam, an existing downstream hydroelectric facility. R. 720, 1717. Reclamation completed Deadwood Reservoir in 1931, R. 1717, and received a "License and Certificate of Water Right" in 1942. R. 720. In 1937, Reclamation applied for a permit to construct Cascade Reservoir to store water for power and the irrigation of lands below the reservoir. R. 719. Reclamation completed construction in 1948, R. 1718, and received a license in 1962. R. 719. The standard-form licenses for both reservoirs granted "the right to use the waters" of the respective rivers, for the specified irrigation and power-supply purposes, up to specified maximum "amounts" that matched estimated reservoir capacity: 700,000 acre feet per

annum for Cascade and 163,000 acre feet per annum for Deadwood. R. 719-720; *see also* R. 1715. Both licenses confirmed that "said right[s] to the use of said waters has been perfected in accordance with the laws of Idaho, and is hereby confirmed." R. 719-720.

3. Payette Adjudication

Although Idaho statutes have included water-appropriation procedures since 1881, *see Fremont-Madison Irr. Dist.*, 129 Idaho at 456, 926 P.2d at 1303; Idaho Rev. Stat. § 3160 (1887), this Court construed the early procedures to be non-exclusive. *See Nielson v. Parker*, 19 Idaho 727, 115 P. 488 (1911); *see also* Idaho Const., Art. XV, § 3 ("The right to divert and appropriate the unappropriated waters of any natural stream to beneficial uses shall never be denied, except that the state may regulate and limit the use thereof for power purposes"). This left two methods for appropriating State waters: (1) the statutory method, and (2) the "constitutional method" under which a user could acquire a water right merely by "diverting * * * water and applying it to a beneficial use." *Joyce Livestock*, 144 Idaho at 9, 156 P.3d at 510 (quoting *Sand Point Water & Light Co. v. Panhandle Dev. Co.*, 11 Idaho 405, 413, 83 P. 347, 349 (1905)).

In 1971, the Idaho Legislature made the statutory "permit and license procedure" the "only * * * means" for perfecting a State-law water right. *See* Idaho Code § 42-202(1); *see also Joyce Livestock*, 144 Idaho at 9, 156 P.3d at 510; Idaho Code §§ 42-103, 42-201(1)-(2). But rights already vested via beneficial use under the constitutional method were protected and preserved for general adjudication. *See* Idaho Code § 42-243; *Fremont-Madison Irr. Distr.*, 129 Idaho at 456, 926 P.2d at 1304. Two years earlier, in 1969, Idaho enacted a statute authorizing

IDWR to initiate the general adjudication of water rights on a stream system, upon the petition of water users. *See* 1969 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 279, § 4, p. 827 (adding Idaho Code § 42-1406).

Shortly after the 1969 enactment, the Director initiated a general adjudication, in the Third Judicial District, in and for Gem County, of the rights to water in the Payette River system. R. 518. Following statutory notice, more than 10,000 water-rights claims were filed. *Id.* The United States filed an initial notice of claims in 1971, R. 509-514, and individual claim forms for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs in 1976. R. 504-508. The United States based its reservoir claims on the State licenses, R. 510-511 (¶¶ 4-5); R. 504-505, 507-508 (¶ 10(c)), with one exception. In the license proceedings, the United States sought storage rights at Deadwood Reservoir for power supply only. R. 720. Based on subsequent developments, the United States claimed an irrigation storage right in Deadwood Reservoir (identical in amount to the power storage right) based on "beneficial use." R. 506 (¶ 10(a)).

In 1979, IDWR issued a "Proposed Finding of Water Rights" (hereinafter, "1979 Director's Report") on all claims filed in the Payette Adjudication. R. 516-534. The report observed that State licenses constituted "prima facie" proof of a water right, R. 520, and recommended that water rights for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs be decreed as claimed, *i.e.*, based on the State licenses, plus the addition of an "irrigation from storage" right for Deadwood Reservoir based on beneficial use. *See* R. 533-34. The Director's Report contained an index setting out specified elements, for each confirmed right. R. 528-34. For Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs, the index specified "use[s]" for "irrigation storage," "irrigation from

storage," "power storage," and "power from storage;" a "use period" of "1/1" to "12/31;" and a "max amount" of "700,000 AFA" for Cascade and "163,000 AFA" for Deadwood. R. 533-34. In general findings of fact, the Director found that "[t]he practice of holding stored water in a reservoir has normally been year around," R. 524 (¶ 17), and that "water users in the Payette River Drainage Basin have historically diverted the so called 'high water' or 'flood water' generally during the months of May and June." *Id.* (¶ 19).

Under conclusions of law, the Director stated that the "recommended decree includes all of the rights established before October 19, 1977 to the waters of the Payette River and its tributaries," and that "[a]ny water user * * * who heretofore diverted * * * water [from the Payette River system] * * * and * * * failed to claim * * * water rights has forfeited such rights as provided in Section 42-1411, Idaho Code." That code section likewise stated:

When a decree has been entered [in a statutory general adjudication], any water user who has been joined and who failed to appear and submit proof of his claim as provided in this act shall be barred and estopped from subsequently asserting any right theretofore acquired upon the waters included with the proceedings, and shall be held to have forfeited all rights to any water theretofore claimed.

See 1969 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 279, § 9, p. 832 (adding Idaho Code § 42-1411). This forfeiture provision was repealed in 1986 as part of the statutory amendments that preceded the SRBA.

See 1986 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 220, § 1, p. 560.

No party objected to the Director's findings on federal storage rights in the Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs. In January 1986, the district court issued a "Partial Decree" (R. 450-554)

⁴ Per Reclamation's "beneficial use" claim, the report limited the "use period" for "irrigation from storage" at Deadwood Reservoir to "4/1" to "11/1/". R. 506, 534.

declaring "that the water rights of the Payette River Drainage Basin * * * are as described in [the Director's] proposed findings," subject to specified exceptions not relevant here. R. 452. The 1986 Partial Decree included a "Rule 54(b) Certificate" finding "no just reason for delay of the entry of a final [judgment]" and declaring the order final for appeal purposes. R. 453.

4. Consolidation of Payette Adjudication and SRBA

In 1985, the Idaho Legislature amended the 1969 water-adjudication statute to direct IDWR to commence an adjudication of all rights in the Snake River system. See In re Snake River Basin Water Sys., 115 Idaho 1, 2-5, 764 P.2d 78, 79-82 (1988) (citing 1985 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 18, § 1, p. 28, ch. 118, § 1, p. 287); see also In re SRBA, 128 Idaho 246, 250, 912 P.2d 614, 618 (1995). The Snake River system includes the Payette River and three other tributaries that had previously been the subject of partial or completed adjudications. See In re Snake River Basin, 115 Idaho at 4, 764 P.2d at 81. The 1985 legislation directed IDWR not to include in the SRBA "any adjudicated tributary unless the United States * * * refuse[d] to consent to the jurisdiction of the district court" absent such inclusion. Id. (citing 1985 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 118, § 1, p. 287). When initiating the SRBA in 1987, in the Fifth Judicial District in and for the County of Twin Falls, the Director stated that he was unable to ascertain whether the United States "refused to consent to jurisdiction" in the absence of the tributaries. Id. at 4-5, 764 P.2d at 81-82. The United States filed a special appearance to explain that Congress's consent to jurisdiction, via the McCarran Amendment, 43 U.S.C. § 666(a), required the adjudication to be comprehensive of the named stream system, whether or not water rights on parts of the system

previously had been adjudicated as to the owners of those rights. *Id.* at 5, 764 P.2d at 82. On appeal, this Court agreed. *Id.* at 5-9, 764 P.2d at 82-86.

All parties to the Payette Adjudication thereafter were compelled to file notices of claim in the SRBA. See R. 494 (¶ D) (consolidation order). In its notices of claim for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs (p. 4, supra), the United States described its water rights as "decreed," based on the 1986 Partial Decree in the Payette Adjudication. R. 772-789. In 2001, the district court issued an order formally consolidating the Payette Adjudication with the SRBA. R. 493-495. While acknowledging that the 1986 partial decree "resolved the majority of claims" in the Payette Adjudication, R. 493, the order noted that the "Payette Adjudication was never completed," id., and directed that "all matters concerning the Payette Adjudication" "[h]enceforth * * * be considered * * * in the proceedings relating to Basin 65 in the SRBA." R. 495. As noted, supra, the SRBA district court issued partial decrees of the United States' rights for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs in 2003. R. 543-557.

5. Flood Control Operations

As Reclamation developed Deadwood and Cascade Reservoirs in the upper Payette River basin, towns and communities grew on the lower Payette River. *See generally* R. 1761. In light of this development, Reclamation determined, early in its reservoir operations, that it was "necessary and prudent" to fill the reservoirs for irrigation storage in a manner that also would help provide flood control. R. 1661; *see also Kunz v. Utah Power & Light Co.*, 117 Idaho 901, 792 P.2d 926 (1990) (duty of care owed by reservoir operators). Winter and spring flooding events occur on the Payette River when heavy rains fall on snow or frozen ground

and/or due to heavy snowmelt. R. 1661, 1673. Maximum flows in the Payette River usually occur in May or June. R. 1763, 1781. By filling the reservoirs for irrigation storage during this peak-flow period, Reclamation can minimize flood damages to communities below the dam. R. 1661, 1809.

Reclamation began such flood-control operations – *i.e.*, evacuating reservoir space in order to fill the reservoirs during periods of peak runoff – in or before 1957. R. 1809. By bypassing early flows, however, Reclamation risked not being able to fill the reservoirs, if late flows were less than anticipated. R. 1776. In 1974, Reclamation developed "flood control rule curves" to provide "reasonable assurance" of maximum physical fill for irrigation use, consistent with flood-control objectives. R. 1809. Reclamation revised the rule curves in 1995. R. 1809, 1817-1826. The flood-control target on the Payette River is a flow rate of 12,000 cubic feet or less at Horseshoe Bend. R. 1769. The rule curves identify the reservoir fill level and vacant space to be maintained over time to meet that targeted flow rate, in light of winter flood events and predicted snowmelt. R. 1808-1809.

As fall passes to winter and snows accumulate, flood risks change and Reclamation's ability to predict spring snowmelt improves, causing the prescribed reservoir levels to change. Reclamation initially fills the reservoirs during the fall and winter up to a maximum winter "carryover" amount (maximum reservoir volume minus a set storage space dedicated to prevent flooding from winter storms), 5 then vacates additional water determined to be replaceable by

⁵ The 1995 revision to the rule curves determined that Reclamation could safely reduce the required winter flood space (and increase winter carryover volume). R. 1819-24.

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