Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-9-2017

In Re SRBA Case No. 39576 Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44635

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The District acknowledges and agrees with the Statement of the Case presented by Appellant United States of America ("Bureau of Reclamation" or "BOR"), but clarifies the following statement:

Black Canyon intervened in the subcases to argue that the United States' supplemental claims are unnecessary because IDWR's accounting rules are in error.

Brief for Appellant United States of America ("BOR Brief"), p. 1. The District has consistently argued that this appeal (and that in companion appeal, Docket No. 44636) involves resolution of the flood control release "legal effect" question: What effect, if any, do flood control releases have on the BOR's existing storage rights? Appellant's Opening Brief; Docket No. 44636 (May 12, 2017) ("District Brief"), p. 24. The above-referenced question is not a water right accounting mechanics-based question. Rather, it is a question of law regarding the legal theory and presumption upon which the State contends the program operates.

The District does not seek review of the inner workings of IDWR's computerized water right accounting program. The internal details of the program are irrelevant because: (1) the BOR's late claims accepted the Department's water right accounting construct (*i.e.*, "paper fill" methodology by which flood control releases count against the existing storage rights) as true and were filed during the pendency of the Basin-Wide Issue 17 proceedings as a hedge against

the potential legal consequences of the program; (2) the accounting program *should* have no legal effect upon the water rights ultimately adjudicated in the Payette Adjudication; and (3) the accounting program does nothing to effect or inform the diversion and use of water post-flood control releases under the constitutional method of appropriation pre-1971 (should supplemental water rights ultimately prove necessary to mitigate the State's legal theories and preserve historic water storage and use patterns in the basin). *Accord* R. 2236; 2265-66; 2435-36; *see also*, R. 2219, n. 3 and Tr. (Mar. 1, 2016) at 12:5-9 (State concessions that IDWR's accounting program does not "create, define, or alter water rights.").

The general aspects of water right accounting that are relevant include: (1) the legal conclusion and ultimate impact the State assigns to the program (*i.e.*, the program's one-fill rule/paper fill rule premise—whereby, flood control releases count against the existing storage rights for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs as a matter of law); and (2) the timing of adoption of the accounting program in Basin 65 (1992/3), which informs the application of various exceptions to the *res judicata* doctrine (the "might and should have been litigated" and the "new facts/claim ripeness" exceptions) argued by the District and BOR.

¹ Special Master Booth appreciated the "should have no legal effect" concern despite confirming the State's legal proposition concession: "As a de jure proposition, counsel for the State is absolutely correct; however what is left out of this statement is that as a de facto proposition, water rights accounting by the administrative agency of the State with the authority to administer water rights can, as a practical matter, define water rights." R. 2219, n. 3. While the program should have no effect on the existing storage rights, the parties involved in this appeal are here because the State contends that the program's "paper fill" construct does have a detrimental legal effect under the State's one-fill theory. According to the State, on-stream reservoirs necessarily divert and store all water flowing into them; therefore flood control releases are necessarily the release of water diverted and stored under the existing storage rights.

The State's overarching legal theory of the one-fill/paper fill rule crystallized during the Basin-Wide Issue 17 proceedings; the State defends the one-fill/paper fill rule (citing the accounting program as the embodiment of that rule), and the District and BOR disagree with it as a matter of law. *Accord* R. 2441-43. These are legal questions regarding the legal effect of flood control releases requiring a determination (or declaration) of the nature and scope of the existing property rights (storage rights) weighed against the backdrop of flood control operations.

The nature, scope, and integrity of the property rights embodied by the existing storage rights was implicated (impugned) the moment the BOR's late claims were granted and accepted by the SRBA Court. The District was statutorily obligated under Idaho Code Section 42-1411 to defend the existing storage rights, which it did as a matter of opportunity and right within the applicable SRBA late claims process. The hydrograph of spill and fill flood control operations is undeniable; water users in Basin 65 have been diverting, storing and using post-flood control release water for decades—the "historic practice" and "status quo" according to IDWR.

The legal authority and corresponding property right under which post-flood control release water is stored and used in Basin 65 is the existing storage rights for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs. The accounting program is not a rule, regulation or law. It does not, and cannot, answer the underlying flood control "legal effect" question pending before this Court.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

The District presents no additional issues on appeal other than those raised by the BOR herein. Any additional issues on appeal are already pending in Docket No. 44636.

III. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Consistent with its appeal in Docket No. 44636, the District does not seek costs or attorney fees on appeal.

IV. ARGUMENT

The District agrees with and adopts the BOR's arguments as a general matter, and insofar as they are consistent with the discussion contained in the Statement of the Case above. The District agrees that: (1) the late claims are unnecessary because the water claimed by them is already appropriated by the existing storage rights for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs; and (2) the late claims, if necessary to preserve the historic diversion and use of post-flood control release water, are not barred by application of *res judicata*. In addition to the BOR's arguments, the District incorporates by reference those contained in the District's Brief filed May 12, 2017, in Docket No. 44636.

V. CONCLUSION

Consistent with its argument and conclusion in Docket No. 44636, the District requests that this Court determine that the BOR's pending late claims are unnecessary and duplicative because the water claimed by them is already appropriated by the existing storage rights for Cascade and Deadwood Reservoirs. In the alternative, and to the extent this Court determines that the existing storage rights are insufficient to preserve one physical fill of the reservoirs in flood control years, the District requests that this Court reverse the SRBA Court's "preclusive effect" holdings with respect to the prior Payette Adjudication (whether those holdings are based

on prior decree, former statute, the doctrine of *res judicata*, or some combination thereof) so that the property right perfected by the pre-1971 diversion and use of post-flood control water can be properly memorialized and protected by bona fide water rights stemming from the late claims.